#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

### SUPREME COURT NO. 18-0643 Bremer County Case No. CVCV005656

# DENVER SUNSET NURSING HOME, Appellant/Plaintiff

VS.

### CITY OF DENVER, IOWA Appellee/Defendant

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BREMER COUNTY

The Honorable Chris C. Foy

#### APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

# DUTTON, BRAUN, STAACK & HELLMAN, P.L.C.

David J. Dutton, AT0002192 Erich D. Priebe, AT0012350 3151 Brockway Road P.O. Box 810 Waterloo, IA 50704 (319) 234-4471 (319) 234-8029 - **FAX** Attorneys for Appellant

##

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the district court erred in awarding only partial judgment to Denver Sunset Nursing Home for over 28 years of excessive billing committed by the City of Denver, Iowa.

#### **Authorities**

- 1. Baines v. Blenderman, 223 N.W.2d 199 (Iowa 1974)
- 2. <u>Beeck v. Aquaslide 'N' Dive Corp.</u>, 350 N.W.2d 149 (Iowa 1984)
- 3. <u>Brown v. Ellison</u>, 304 N.W.2d 197 (Iowa 1981)
- 4. Callahan v. State, 464 N.W.2d 268 (Iowa 1990)
- 5. <u>Cameron v. Montgomery</u>, 225 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa 1975)
- 6. Chrischilles v. Griswold, 150 N.W.2d 94 (Iowa 1967)
- 7. Clinkscales v. Nelson Secs., Inc., 697 N.W.2d 836 (Iowa 2005)
- 8. <u>Christy v. Miulli</u>, 692 N.W.2d 694 (Iowa 2005)
- 9. Coachman Indus., Inc. v. Sec. Trust & Sav. Bank of Shenandoah, 329 N.W.2d 648 (Iowa 1983)
- 10. DeWall v. Prentice, 224 N.W.2d 428 (Iowa 1974)
- 11. <u>Dudden v. Goodman</u>, 543 N.W.2d 624 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)
- 12. Estate of Montag v. TH Agric. & Nutrition Co., Inc., 509 N.W.2d 469
- 13. (Iowa 1993)
- 14. <u>Flynn v. Lucas Cnty. Mem'l Hosp.</u>, 203 N.W.2d 613 (Iowa 1973)
- 15. <u>Franzen v. Deere & Co.</u>, 377 N.W.2d 660 (Iowa 1985)
- 16. Hallett Constr. Co. v. Meister, 713 N.W.2d 225 (Iowa 2006)
- 17. <u>Iowa Waste Sys., Inc. v. Buchanan Cnty.</u>, 617 N.W.2d 23 (Iowa Ct. App. 2000)
- 18. K & W Elec., Inc. v. State, 712 N.W.2d 107 (Iowa 2006)
- 19. Kendall/Hunt Publ'g Co. v. Rowe, 424 N.W.2d 235 (Iowa 1988)
- 20. Kern v. Palmer Coll. of Chiropractic, 757 N.W.2d 651 (Iowa 2008)
- 21. Meier v. Alfa-Laval, Inc., 454 N.W.2d 576 (Iowa 1990)
- 22. Mid-Iowa Cmty. Action, Inc. v. Iowa State Commerce Comm'n, 421 N.W.2d 899 (Iowa 1988)
- 23. Murtha v. Cahalan, 745 N.W.2d 711 (Iowa 2008)
- 24. Orr v. Lewis Cent. Sch. Dist., 298 N.W.2d 256 (Iowa 1980)
- 25. Pride v. Peterson, 173 N.W.2d 549 (Iowa 1970)
- 26. Rathje v. Mercy Hosp., 745 N.W.2d 443 (Iowa 2008)
- 27. Rieff v. Evans, 630 N.W.2d 278 (Iowa 2001)

- 28. Speight v. Walters Dev. Co., Ltd., 744 N.W.2d 108 (Iowa 2008)
- 29. State v. Wilson, 573 N.W.2d 248 (Iowa 1998)
- 30. State, Dept. of Human Servs. Ex rel. Palmer v. Unisys Corp., 637 N.W.2d 142 (Iowa 2001)
- 31. <u>Urie v. Thompson</u>, 337 U.S. 163, 69 S.Ct. 1018, 93 L.Ed. 1282 (1949)
- 32. Vachon v. State, 514 N.W.2d 442 (Iowa 1994)
- 33. Wernimont v. Wernimont, 686 N.W.2d 186 (Iowa 2004)
- 34. Woodroffe v. Hasenclever, 540 N.W.2d 45 (Iowa 1995)
- 35. Iowa Code § 476.1(B)(1)
- 36. Iowa Code § 614.1(4)
- 37. City of Denver Code of Ordinances § 14.04.240
- 38. Iowa Admin. Code r. 199-20.4(14)(e) (2016)
- 39. I George E. Palmer, <u>The Law of Restitution</u> § 1.1 (1978)
- 40. Restatement (First) of Restitution § 1 (1936)

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Appellant believes this case may be properly transferred to the Court of Appeals because it involves the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The City of Denver ("the City") overcharged the Denver Sunset Nursing Home ("the Nursing Home") for electricity over a period of nearly 29 years starting in 1985, resulting in a financial gain to the City of \$996,194.03. (See Denver Sunset Home Electric Meter Change, App. 255; see Letter from Steven K. Duggan, C.P.A. (June 1, 2017), App. 59–71.) After the City's electric meter was installed at the Nursing Home and the meter's "multiplier" was misapplied by the City and its personnel, the Nursing Home was billed for 200% of its actual electricity usage from May 22, 1985 until about approximately March 24, 2014. (See Electric Meter Replacement Project, App. 212; see Deposition of Larry Zars at 30:21-31:20, App. 210–11.) After learning of the errors during a board of directors meeting on September 19, 2016, the Nursing Home brought the instant suit. (See Bd. of Dirs. Meeting (Sept. 19, 2016), App. 252.)

About three months later, on December 20, 2016, the Nursing Home filed its Petition and Jury Demand against the City. (See Pet. for Declaratory J. and Jury Demand (Dec. 20, 2016), App. 7–9.) The Nursing Home asserted several theories for relief therein, including requests for (i) recovery for "public utility duress," (ii) damages for the City's "intentional conduct," (iii) relief via a declaratory judgment, and (iv) a jury trial. (See id.) The City answered the Nursing Home's suit, and it generally denied liability for the past overcharges. (See Answer to Pet. for Declaratory J. (Jan. 3, 2017), App. 35–37.) The City admitted that "charges for electrical service have been miscalculated," but the City expressly denied that it owed the Nursing Home "reimbursement in an amount equal to its excess billing together with interest on each payment." (See id. at ¶¶ 3–5.)

Discovery commenced. (See generally Docket.) The Nursing Home later amended its Petition to add the claims of "unjust enrichment" and "breach of contract" against the City, among other causes of action. (See Amended & Substituted Pet. for Declaratory J. (June 5, 2017), App. 75–77.) The amendment was granted by the district court, and the City filed its Answer, once again denying liability for the complete, past overcharges.

(See Order (July 22, 2017), App. 172–73; see Answer to Amended & Substituted Pet. for Declaratory J. (July 18, 2017), App. 169–71.)

On May 19, 2017, the City moved for summary judgment on several grounds, including its argument that the Nursing Home's damages should be limited "to five years prior to the date suit was filed." (See Mot. for Summ. J. at ¶ 6 (May 19, 2017), App. 10.) In support of its position, the City relied upon Iowa Code chapter 614 as well as 199 Iowa Administrative Code chapter 20. (See Memo. of Law in Support of City's Mot. for Summ. J. at 8 (May 19, 2017).)

In response, the Nursing Home filed its resistance and a cross-motion for summary judgment on June 5, 2017. (See Mot. for Partial Summ. J & Resistance to Def.'s Mot. for Summ. J. (June 5, 2017), App. 24–27.) Therein the Nursing Home requested a grant of summary judgment on the issue of the City's liability only; the Nursing Home based this request upon the City's admissions that it billed the Nursing Home "for twice the amount of electricity actually supplied to and used by [the Nursing Home]." (See id. at ¶ 1, App. 24.) The Nursing Home further alleged that any claimed statute of limitations was tolled because *inter alia* "the errors related to the City's [electric] meter were unknown until 2014 when [City of Denver Electric

Superintendent] Larry Zars discovered them during his inspection" and because "[t]he entire installation of electrical service, including the meter and the multiplier, was performed by the City." (See Br. in Support of Mot. for Partial Summ. J. & Resistance at 9 (June 5, 2017).)

In its November 30, 2017 Order, the district court granted summary judgment, in part, as to each party. (See Order Granting Summ. J. (Nov. 30, 2017), App. 185–90.) The district court first made a factual finding that the City's employee(s) or "someone who was associated with" the City "assigned an incorrect rate multiplier for the meter" located at the Nursing Home. (See id. at 1, App. 185.) As a result, the district court found that the City charged and the Nursing Home paid for twice as much electricity as it actually used. (See id. at 2, 4, App. 186, 188 ("Due to the use of the wrong rate multiplier, the Utility charged and Plaintiff paid for twice as much electricity as it actually used.").) The district court further stated, "There is nothing in the summary judgment record to indicate or suggest that either party . . . knew or should have known that [the City] was using an incorrect rate multiplier or was overcharging [the Nursing Home]" at any time prior to March 24, 2014. (See id. at 2, App. 186.)

In its legal analysis, the district court determined that the Nursing Home's claim was, at its core, "founded on basic contract principles." (See id. at 4, App. 188 ("Even though there is no written contract between the parties, the claim asserted in this case by Plaintiff is most accurately characterized as contractual in nature.").) The district court further determined the Nursing Home was entitled to a money judgment against the City. (See id. at 4–5, App. 188–89.) However, the district court ruled that Iowa Code section 614.1(4) "limits what [the Nursing Home] can recover to the overcharges it paid within five years of December 20, 2016, when it commenced this action." (See id. (emphasis added).) The district court thus entered judgment in favor of the Nursing Home and against the City "in the amount of \$47,917.96, together with interest at an annual rate of 3.5 percent from and after December 20, 2016" plus costs. (See id. at 5, App. 189.)

In its Rule 1.904 pleadings, the Nursing Home reiterated its position that any statutes of limitation were tolled by the discovery rule as well as by the doctrine of fraudulent concealment. (See Mot. to Reconsider, Amend & Enlarge (Dec. 13, 2017), App. 191–203.) The Nursing Home further argued that summary judgment was wholly inappropriate because fact issues were present and because the district court had ruled on several of the parties'

issues *sua sponte*, without briefing or a full, evidentiary record provided by the litigants. (See, e.g., Mot. to Reconsider Proposed Ruling on Mots. for Summ. J. at ¶¶ 3–6 (Sept. 1, 2017), App. 176.)

In its final decision, the district court denied that the Nursing Home was entitled to any additional recovery under the discovery rule, under the fraudulent concealment doctrine, or for its claim of unjust enrichment. (See Order Denying Mot. to Reconsider (Mar. 26, 2018), App. 258–60.) The stated rationale of the district court's decision was that "there is no precedent in Iowa for applying the discovery rule to claims of the type being asserted by Plaintiff." (See id. at 2, App. 259.) The district court specifically stated:

The longest period that the discovery rule tolled the accrual of the claim in any of the cases cited by Plaintiff was 12 years. In contrast, Plaintiff asks that the Court apply the discovery rule in this case to toll the accrual of certain portions of its claim against Defendant for more than 30 years.

(See id. at 1, App 258.) As a result, the district court ruled as follows: "Section 614.1(4) restricts the recovery to which Plaintiff is entitled in this case, regardless whether its claim is characterized as a cause of action for breach of an unwritten contract or for unjust enrichment." (See id.) The Nursing Home now appeals these decisions. (See Notice of Appeal (Apr. 12, 2018), App. 261–63.)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### The Parties

The Nursing Home is an Iowa nonprofit corporation that owns and operates a licensed nursing home in Denver, Iowa. (See Amended & Substituted Pet. for Declaratory J. at ¶ 1 (June 5, 2017) [hereinafter "Pet."], App. 75; see Answer to Amended & Substituted Pet. for Declaratory J. at ¶ 1 (July 18, 2017) [hereinafter "Answer"], App. 169.) The Nursing Home is a community-based organization that is governed by a nine-member, volunteer board of directors. (See Aff. of Larry Stumme at ¶ 2 (June 5, 2017) [hereinafter "Stumme Aff."], App. 72.) It was formed in 1964 and opened for business in February 1965. (See id.) The Nursing Home is licensed by the State of Iowa as a "Nursing Facility" and "Skilled Nursing Facility," and it has the capacity for 31 residents. (See Pet. at ¶ 1, App. 75; see Answer at ¶ 1, App. 169; see Stumme Aff. at ¶ 3, App. 72.)

The City owns, operates, and provides utilities, including electricity, which it sells to residents. (See Pet. at ¶ 2, App. 75; see Answer at ¶ 2, App. 169.) The City provides the only electric utility service that is available to the Nursing Home. (See Stumme Aff. at ¶ 5, App. 72; see Iowa Util. Bd., "Town Provider List," p. 35 (Apr. 30, 2015), App. 30, available at

https://iub.iowa.gov/sites/default/files/files/misc/town-provider-list.pdf.) A "Town Provider List" published by the Iowa Utility Board notes that "Denver Municipal" is the one and sole electric service provider for the City. (See Iowa Util. Bd., "Town Provider List," p. 35 (Apr. 30, 2015), App. 30; see also Order Granting Summ. J. at 1 (Nov. 30, 2017), App. 185 ("Defendant operates a municipal utility which is the sole public source of electricity... within its incorporated area.").)

The City determines the amounts it charges its customers, like the Nursing Home, for electricity, and it declares those rates for new and existing customers. (See DenverSunset 3, App. 49 (setting out the electricity charges declared by the City).) The City also creates and sends out monthly billing statements for the electricity used by each of its customers. (See, e.g., DenverSunset 4–6, App. 50–52 (summary of monthly electric charges).) In this case, the City admits that it miscalculated the bills for the Nursing Home. (See Pet. at ¶ 3, App. 75; see Answer at ¶ 3, App. 169 ("It is admitted that Plaintiff's charges for electrical service have been miscalculated.").)

### History of the Electric Meter at the Nursing Home

Electric meters within the City of Denver are the property of the City and not of the customer on whose property the meters are affixed. (See Dep.

of Larry Farley at 12:10–25, 19:8–21:22, 34:12–25, App. 215–19; see Dep. of Linda Krueger at 21:15-22:22, App. 238-39; see Dep. of Jeff Joerger at 11:6-12:3, App. 233-34; see Dep. of Larry Zars at 19:1-20:23, App. 208-09.). In fact, no customer is allowed to make any changes in the meter; nor does a customer like the Nursing Home read the meter and report electricity usage to the City. (See Dep. of Larry Farley at 12:10-25, 19:8-21:22, 34:12–25, App. 215–19; see Dep. of Linda Krueger at 21:15–22:22, App. 238–39; see Dep. of Jeff Joerger at 11:6–12:3, App. 233–34; see Dep. of Larry Zars at 19:1–20:23, App. 208–09.) The electric meter for the Nursing Home's property is solely owned, maintained, and controlled by the City. (See Stumme Aff. at ¶ 8, App. 73; see City's Answer to Interrogatory No. 2, App. 45 (listing the personnel who serviced the City's meter at the Nursing Home from 1985–2014); see City's Answer to Interrogatory No. 3, App. 46 (indicating that the City tested the electricity meter for accuracy on September 15, 1998).)

In the Nursing Home's known history, the City has never required the Nursing Home to measure its own electricity usage or self-report its electricity usage. (See Stumme Aff. at ¶ 7, App. 72–73.) It is the understanding of Larry Stumme, the Nursing Home's President, that the City

and its personnel are responsible for accurately metering and billing the Nursing Home's electricity. (See id.) This has been the course of dealing between the Nursing Home and the City since at least May 22, 1985. (See id.; see City's Answer to Interrogatory No. 2, App. 45 (listing the personnel who read the City's meter at the Nursing Home from 1985–2014).)

#### The Nursing Home Expansion - 1985

In 1985, the Nursing Home built an addition to its facility. (See Stumme Aff. at ¶ 9, App. 73.) That construction was completed on or about July 15, 1985. (See id.; see Plaintiff's Answer to Interrogatory No. 2, App. 45.) As part of the 1985 addition, a new electric meter was installed at the Nursing Home. (See Record of Watthour Meter, App. 240.)

The Nursing Home did not furnish the meter, install the meter, test the meter, or hire any person to perform any of those tasks on the Nursing Home's behalf; the City did all this. (See id.; see Stumme Aff. at ¶¶ 10–11, App. 73; see City's Answer to Interrogatory Nos. 2–4, App. 45–47.) The City's meter, installed in 1985, was solely owned, monitored, serviced, and used by the City to bill the Nursing Home for electricity used. (See, e.g., City's Answer to Interrogatory Nos. 2–3, App. 45–46.) Despite the then-unknown errors in the meter's multiplier, the Nursing Home paid each and

every electricity bill issued by the City during this period. (See Stumme Aff. at ¶ 6, App. 72.)

### The Citywide Commercial Meter Replacement - 2014

On March 24, 2014, the City undertook a citywide commercial meter replacement program. (See Aff. of Larry Farley at ¶¶ 7–8 (May 19, 2017) [hereinafter "Farley Aff."], App. 54.) The City's Electrical Superintendent, Larry Zars ("Zars"), reviewed the electric meter at the Nursing Home and its wiring at that time. (See id.) Zars determined that the multiplier for the City's meter at the Nursing Home was incorrect. (See id.) According to Zars, "the measured electricity should have been subject to a multiplier of 40 rather than 80." (See Aff. of Larry Zars at ¶¶ 6–10 (May 19, 2017) [hereinafter "Zars Aff."], App. 56–57.) "Essentially, the multiplier should have been cut in half due to the chosen method of wiring." (See id.)

The electric meter at the Nursing Home was replaced on April 22, 2014, with a new meter and multiplier that correctly reflected the Nursing Home's electricity usage. (See Dep. of Larry Zars at 30:21–31:20, App. 210–11; see Electric Meter Replacement Project (Mar. 24, 2014), App. 212; see Timeline, App. 213; see Dep. of Larry Farley at 42:13–21, App. 220.) However, as a consequence of the incorrect multiplier, from the period of

approximately May 22, 1985 and continuing until 2014, the City overcharged the Nursing Home on its electricity bill. (See Pet. at ¶ 3, App. 75; see Answer at ¶ 3, App. 169; see Farley Aff. at ¶¶ 4–8, App. 53–54; see Zars Aff. at ¶¶ 7–10, App. 57.)

#### **Revelation of the Overcharges to the Nursing Home**

The Nursing Home was not aware of the overcharges until 2016. (See Bd. of Dirs. Meeting Minutes (Sept. 19, 2016), App. 31.) Notably, the "80" multiplier that was the root and origin of the excessive bill was not stated anywhere on the physical meter that was installed at the Nursing Home for those nearly three decades. (See Dep. of Jeff Joerger at 12:6–13:4, App. 234–35.) Nor was the "80" multiplier stated on the customer bills that were generated by the City and sent to the Nursing Home in the ordinary course. (See Dep. of Linda Krueger at 20:15–21:7, App. 237–38; see also Record of Watthour Meter, App. 240 ("Meter card" used by the City).)

Incidentally, Ron Milius ("Milius"), the part-time maintenance man for the Nursing Home and former mayor of Denver, was within earshot of Zars, the City Electrician, who was conducting a city wide inspection and replacement of meters in early 2014. (See Dep. of Ron Milius at 14:17–16:2, App. 242–44.) Milius overheard Zars and Zars' co-employee, Jeff Joerger,

discussing the meter at the Nursing Home. (See id.) Milius heard in 2014 that the Nursing Home had been paying double bills for a long period of time. (See id.) Upon learning this, Zars assured Milius that Zars would "report it to Mr. Farley [the City Administrator] and go from there." (See id. at 17:16–18:6, App. 245–46.)

When no resolution from the City was forthcoming, Milius took it upon himself to contact City Administrator Larry Farley ("Farley") to see what he was going to do about the double billing. (See id. at 18:7–19:1, App. 246–47.) Milius went to city hall several times to get an update on the matter. (See id.) Milius did not tell the Administrator of the Nursing Home or anyone on the Nursing Home board because he trusted that Farley would take care of the problem. (See id. at 19:8–20:2, 30:1–19, App. 247–48, 251 ("I guess it basically boils down to a little trust from Mr. Farley that he would get something taken care of.").)

Milius heard no response from Farley, beyond Farley's repeated assurances that the City would "look into it." (See id. at 19:8–20:21, App. 247–48 ("[H]e said he would look into it for me and he would let me know what's going on. Well, I never did hear anything"), 30:8–14, App. 251 (discussing Milius' repeated visits).) After two-and-a-half years, Milius

eventually got tired of waiting, and he again approached Farley to see if the Nursing Home could buy a generator through the City and have the City Electrician's hook it up "for nothing" as a payback for the overcharging. (See id. at 20:3–21, App. 248.) Farley replied to Milius that Farley would need to take that matter up with city council. (See id.) However, record does not disclose that Farley took the issue to city council at that time. (See generally Record.)

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