IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 18-0643 Bremer County No. CVCV005656

DENVER SUNSET NURSING HOME, Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

CITY OF DENVER, IOWA, Defendant-Appellee

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BREMER COUNTY HONORABLE CHRIS FOY, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Randall H. Stefani Maria E. Brownell AHLERS & COONEY, P.C. 100 Court Avenue, Suite 600 Des Moines, Iowa 50309 (515) 243-7611 (515) 243-2149 (fax) <u>rstefani@ahlerslaw.com</u> <u>mbrownell@ahlerslaw.com</u> ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY LIMITED SUNSET'S RECOVERY OF REFUND TO FIVE YEARS.

A. Preservation of Error.

Denver agrees error has been preserved regarding the application of the discovery rule to Sunset's unjust enrichment claim.

B. Scope and Standard of Review.

Denver agrees with Sunset's statement of the scope and standard of review.

C. Analysis.

For the reasons discussed below, the district court was correct to limit Sunset's recovery to five years for four primary reasons. First, the district court's decision is consistent with Denver's own home-rule regulation governing its electric utility refunds. Second, the evidence does not substantively support Sunset's unjust enrichment claim, making the analysis of Denver's statute of limitations defense unnecessary.

Third, the district court properly applied the successive actions doctrine to the underlying claims for refund on each

13

invoice. The doctrine is the applicable rule of accrual in this case. Finally, the district court's decision is consistent with Iowa Supreme Court and Iowa Court of Appeals precedent concerning the application of statutes of limitations and the discovery rule to the underlying claims made in Sunset's Amended and Substituted Petition.

1. The City of Denver's Utility Refund Regulation Governs.²

The City of Denver is a municipal corporation with the

² Although the district court did not appear to rely upon this argument in either of its rulings that limited Sunset's recovery to five years, the argument was urged by Denver throughout the proceedings below. Specifically, Denver urged this argument in its briefing in support of its motion for summary judgment and in resistance to Sunset's motion for summary judgment. (Memorandum of Law in Support of City's Motion for Summary Judgment, at p. 8; Combined Resistance to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and Reply to Plaintiff's Resistance to City's Motion for Summary Judgment, at pp. 1-4; App. 87-152). Denver further argued its local regulations controlled the refund period in its Resistance to Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider Proposed Ruling on Motions for Summary Judgment. (App. 183). Finally, Denver advanced the argument in its Brief in Support of its Resistance to Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider, Amend, and Enlarge Ruling on Motions for Summary Judgment. (Brief in Resistance to Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider, Amend, and Enlarge Ruling on Motions for Summary Judgment, ps. 5-6). The appellate court may affirm "on any basis appearing in the record and urged by the prevailing party."" Iowa Tel. Ass'n v. City of Hawarden, 589

authority to exercise any power not inconsistent with state law. Iowa Constitution, Art. III, § 38A. ("Municipal corporations are granted home rule power and authority, not inconsistent with the laws of the general assembly, to determine their local affairs and government...."). Iowa Code section 384.84 specifically places authority over municipal utility rates and services in the hands of cities themselves. See Iowa Code § 384.84 (2017) ("The governing body of a city utility, combined utility system, city enterprise, or combined city enterprise may establish, impose, adjust, and provide for the collection of rates and charges...."); see also Iowa Code § 476.1(4) (setting forth jurisdiction of the Iowa Utilities Board as excluding municipally-owned utilities); Id. § 476.1B (stating legislative pronouncement of home rule for municipal utilities and municipally-owned utility furnishing electricity who are not subject to regulation by the Iowa Utilities Board except for specific enumerated exceptions not applicable to this case).

N.W.2d 245, 252 (Iowa 1999) (quoting *Matter of Estate of Voss*, 553 N.W.2d 778, 879 n.1 (Iowa 1996)). The issue presented by Denver's ordinance is therefore properly before this Court on appeal. *Id.*

This legal landscape demonstrates that debt collection and refunds are the province of the municipal utility as the regulating authority. Here, Denver chose to exercise its home rule authority by incorporating the Iowa Utilities Board's bill adjustment regulation into its local code of ordinances for all electric utility customers. Denver, Iowa, Code § 14.04.010 (May 2004), available at http://cityofdenveriowa.com/city-code/.³ Specifically, Denver chose to implement the Utilities Board's customer relation rules which include the Utilities Board's bill adjustment rule (199 Iowa Admin. Code § 20.4(14)), in Denver's fiscal policy, which was adopted by resolution of the Denver City Council. (App. 87-93; App. 117-152). The Iowa Utilities Board's bill adjustment rule includes a provision specifying customers

³ Denver, Iowa, Code § 14.04.010 reads:

^{14.04.010} State Regulations Adopted. The "Regulations Governing Service Supplied by Electric Utilities" required by the Iowa State Commerce Commission, Utilities Division in compliance with Chapter 490A, Code of Iowa, 1966 are hereby adopted by reference as the official regulations governing service supplied by the City of Denver electric utility. An official copy of the "Regulations" as adopted is on file in the office of the City clerk and is available for public inspection. (Ord. 2-66 §1, 1966).

are entitled to a refund of five years for overcharges. (App. 101). A public utility customer may appeal to the Iowa Utilities Board, as the regulating authority for public utilities, for a greater refund on a case-by-case basis.⁴ (App. 101).

Applying Denver's regulation to the circumstances in this case, Sunset's remedy for a municipal utility overcharge is a five-year refund. (App. 87-152). The Denver refund policy is Sunset's remedy at law and as a result, the district court did not err in limiting Sunset to five years of recovery.

Regardless of the fact Sunset is seeking to recover more than the amount provided under Denver's refund policy, Denver's utility regulation is a valid exercise of home rule authority that is not preempted. *See Hensler v. City of Davenport*, 790 N.W.2d 569, 585 (Iowa 2010) ("For conflict preemption to apply, the local ordinance must be "irreconcilable" with state law, meaning the conflict must be 'obvious, unavoidable, and not a matter of reasonable debate.""

⁴ In the case of Sunset, it would therefore have the right to appeal to the Denver City Council as the regulating authority for a refund of greater than five years. Sunset, however, has not exercised this right as of the time of filing this appeal.

(quoting *City of Davenport v. Seymour*, 755 N.W.2d 533, 538 (Iowa 2008))). Iowa Code section 614.1(4) provides a five year statute of limitations for "all other actions not otherwise provided for." Iowa Code § 614.1(4) (2017). Denver's uniform customer policy provides a remedy of five years of refund for overcharges. Iowa Code Chapter 614 is not placed in issue. The policy's refund term is thus not irreconcilable with the residual category of the statute of limitations in section 614.1(4).

Moreover, in matters of local policy within a city's legislatively-granted discretion, courts will not "second-guess whether it was a 'good or bad decision." *Fults v. City of Coralville*, 666 N.W.2d 548, 555 (Iowa 2003) (quoting *McMurray v. City of West Des Moines*, 642 N.W.2d 273, 280 (2002)). Here, the Denver City Council determined the Iowa Utility Board's five-year refund policy should be its own utility policy. This Court should affirm the district court's determination Sunset's recovery of refund is limited to five years.

2. Unjust Enrichment is Not Available.

Because the undisputed facts do not support the elements of Sunset's claim for unjust enrichment, the statute of limitations defense and the discovery rule discussion are not applicable. The doctrine of unjust enrichment is a remedy of restitution, sometimes referred to as a quasi-contract or an implied-in-law contract theory. Iowa Waste Systems, Inc. v. Buchanan County, 617 N.W.2d 23, 29 (Iowa Ct. App. 2000). Such "contracts" do not arise from the traditional bargaining process, but rather, "rest on a legal fiction arising from considerations of justice and the equitable principles of unjust enrichment." Hunter v. Union State Bank, 505 N.W.2d 172, 177 (Iowa 1993). Importantly, the doctrine only operates in the absence of a contract. Chariton Feed & Grain, Inc. v. Harder, 369 N.W.2d 777, 791 (Iowa 1985). Thus, the existence of a contract between the parties generally bars the unjust enrichment claim as a matter of law. Id.

To call upon the court's equitable jurisdiction for recovery under a claim of unjust enrichment, Sunset must demonstrate: (1) it conferred a benefit upon Denver to its own detriment, (2) Denver had an appreciation of receiving the benefit, (3) Denver accepted and retained the benefit under circumstances making it inequitable for there to be no return payment for its value, and (4) there is no at-law remedy that can appropriately address the claim. *Buchanan Cty.*, 617 N.W.2d at 30.

In Chariton Feed and Grain v. Harder, 369 N.W.2d 777 (Iowa 1985), the Iowa Supreme Court examined the second element requiring an appreciation of receiving a benefit at the other party's expense. In *Harder*, two parties were designated as landlord and tenant under a stock-share lease. Harder, 369 N.W.2d 777, 779. The landlord received the benefit of the feed for the livestock, but the tenant under the lease was the party responsible for paying the supplier for the feed. Id. at 790. The tenant defaulted in his payment obligations to a third-party feed supplier, the plaintiff. Id. at 780. The supplier sued the landlord in equity, claiming the landlord had been unjustly enriched. Id. at 790. The Court held the necessary element of knowledge was lacking since the landlord did not know the tenant was not paying. Id.

This rule assumes that the recipient enjoys greater knowledge of the circumstances under which the service is rendered than does the provider of the service. The facts of the instant appeal do not conform to that model. Harder knew no more of Davidson's precarious finances than did Chariton Feed. Similarly, Chariton Feed made no mistake as to the party with whom it dealt. Davidson ordered the grain, accepted delivery and promised to pay. Chariton Feed did not mistakenly deliver the goods to Harder, who, knowing of Chariton Feed's error, accepted them in bad faith.

Id. at 791.

Similarly, in this case, Sunset concedes Denver had no knowledge of the multiplier calculation issue until March 2014. (Pl.'s Brief, at p. 32 ("Finally, it is significant that the City itself had long failed to recognize the multiplier problem despite its unfettered access to the meter, the meter card, and the associated records."); Pl.'s Brief in Support of Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, at p. 9). The district court correctly found Denver lacked the requisite knowledge of receiving a benefit to which it was not entitled when it determined:

There is nothing in the summary judgment record to indicate or suggest that either party or any of their respective officers, employees, representatives or agents knew or should have known that the Utility was using an incorrect rate multiplier for the meter or was overcharging Plaintiff for the electricity supplied to and used at its long-term care facility at any time between May 22, 1985, and March 24, 2014.

(App. 186). The district court did not err in declining to apply the discovery rule to Sunset's claim of unjust enrichment when there was no evidence to support that Denver knew it had benefitted from the overcharges.

3. The District Court Properly Premised the Limitation Period Upon the Contractual Nature of the Relationship Consistent with the Continuing Violations Doctrine.

Although Denver does not necessarily agree the relationship between a municipal utility and its ratepayers is purely contractual due to the regulatory nature of the role of municipal utilities in Iowa, the district court nonetheless characterized Sunset's claims for refund as claims arising under a contract to receive electric utility services from Denver each month. (App. 188). As the district court noted, "[t]he Utility offered to sell and Plaintiff agreed to purchase electricity at a set rate per kilowatt." (App. 188). The district court thus found Sunset's claims accrued upon issuance of each separate erroneous invoice. (App. 185-186, 188).

The wrong at the center of Sunset's lawsuit is Denver's monthly application of the incorrect rate multiplier on each of Sunset's bills. (App. 185). Iowa law provides when an alleged wrongful act is continuous or repeated such that separate and successive actions for damages arise, the statute of limitations period runs from the occurrence of each such injury. Anderson v. Yearous, 249 N.W.2d 855, 860 (Iowa 1977); see also 54 C.J.S. Limitations of Actions § 235 (2018). Under this doctrine, recovery is limited to those actions accruing during the statutory period preceding the inception of the current action for damages. See Earl v. Clark, 219 N.W.2d 487, 491 (Iowa 1974) (holding that in a continuing tort, the burden of segregating successful damages arising before and after the commencement of the five-year limitations period falls on the defendant); see also Eppling v. Seuntjens, 254 Iowa 396, 404, 117 N.W.2d 820, 825 (1962) (limiting recovery to damages sustained during the last five years where first of continuing damages accrued over six years before commencement of action).

This principle applied by Iowa courts is sometimes also referred to as the "continuing violations" or "continuing accrual" rule. *See, e.g.*, Kyle Graham, *The Continuing Violations Doctrine*, 43 Gonz. L. Rev. 271, 279 (2007-2008 ed.) ("Graham") (discussing the "continuing violations" doctrine); *see also Aryeh v. Canon Bus. Sols., Inc.*, 55 Cal. 4th 1185, 1199, 292 P.3d 871, 880 (2013) (discussing and applying the "continuing accrual" doctrine); *Aryeh*, 55 Cal. 4th at 1192, 292 P.3d at 876 n.3 (separately defining the doctrines as different branches of the same tolling rule in California).

The rule is applicable to toll the statute of limitations period and provide recovery for separate wrongs in a series of misconduct as each event occurs within the statutory limitation period. Graham, 43 Gonz. L. Rev., at 281. The California Supreme Court has articulated the doctrine as an alternative rule of accrual when the underlying acts would each sustain an independent right of action against the defendant:

Generally speaking, continuous accrual applies whenever there is a continuing or recurring obligation: 'When an obligation or liability arises on a recurring basis, a cause of action accrues each time a wrongful act occurs, triggering a new limitations period. Because each new breach of such an obligation provides all the elements of a claim—wrongdoing, harm, and causation' —each may be treated as an independently actionable wrong with its own time limit for recovery.... [T]he theory of continuous accrual supports recovery only for damages arising from those breaches falling within the limitations period.

Aryeh, 55 Cal. 4th at 1199, 292 P.3d at 880 (emphasis added)

(internal quotations and citations omitted).(emphasis added)). But see Acts Ret.-Life Communities, Inc. v. Town of Columbus, 789 S.E.2d 527, 531 (N.C. Ct. App. 2016) (concluding repeated overbilling of water charges due to water utility's initial reclassification of water rates was not a continuing violation, but rather only "continual ill effects from an original violation," and barring Plaintiffs' recovery).

In Iowa, when both the continuous accrual doctrine and the discovery rule are available, the Iowa Supreme Court first examines the continuous accrual doctrine. *See, e.g., K&W Electric, Inc. v. State*, 712 N.W.2d 107, 117 (Iowa 2006) ("Before addressing the issue of what K & W knew or should have known after the 1993 flood, we consider the plaintiff's contention that each flood gave rise to a new claim at which time the statute of limitations began anew.").

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